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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Antrim Energy is committed to transparent, accurate and sound corporate governance.  Our 
governance system consists of high standards of corporate ethics and discipline, both 
essential for building and maintaining the confidence of all stakeholders. These elements, in 
addition to the support of the members of the Board of Directors, management, employees 
and shareholders, ensures compliance, full and fair disclosure and a goal of building on these 
fundamentals to implement best practices in support of the goals of our organization.   
 
Antrim’s Board of Directors is committed to a comprehensive corporate governance 
program consisting of mandates, policies and committees designed to uphold values of 
integrity. The Board is led by an independent chair with seven experienced and highly 
seasoned directors, five of which are independent. The Board is responsible for monitoring 
the company’s ongoing strategic planning and assessing results to ensure that the stated 
goals are achieved.  

 
The Board of Directors regularly meets with management to assess results relative to 
Antrim’s strategic plans. The Board is also responsible for overseeing Antrim’s business by 
providing efficient and valuable stewardship of its assets.  The Fund’s corporate policies and 
practices are consistent with National Policy 58 – 201, which provides guidance on 
governance practices. 

 

Board Committees 
 

The Board has established five committees for the purpose of discharging specific mandates 
in relation to the stewardship of the company.  Each of the committees is comprised of 
independent board members. These are the Corporate Governance Committee, the Audit 
Committee, the Compensation Committee, the Reserves Committee, and the Exploration 
Committee. 
 
Corporate Governance Committee 
 
The corporate governance committee is responsible for identifying qualified and suitable 
Board members, the oversight of corporate governance policies, practices and processes and 
the effectiveness of the Board and its committees.  The corporate governance committee 
meets at least annually to fulfill its mandate 

 
Members: Gerry Orbell, Colin Maclean, Jim Perry, James Smith, Jay Zammit 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

   

Audit Committee 
 

The Audit Committee assists the Board by reviewing the financial reports and other financial 
information provided to the public, internal controls regarding finance and accounting, and 
providing general oversight of Antrim’s accounting and financial reporting.  The committee 
comprises three members, each of whom is financially literate and independent.   
 
Members: James Smith, Gerry Orbell, Jim Perry  

 
Compensation Committee 

 
The Compensation Committee is responsible for developing appropriate compensation 
policies for senior management, including the Corporation’s Stock Option Plan, evaluating 
senior management performance and, where appropriate, approving overall budget salary 
increases for employees, recommendations to the Board regarding compensation of officers 
other than the CEO, goals and objectives relevant to the CEO, and compensation disclosure 
in the information circular. 
 
Members: Jay Zammit, Colin Maclean, James Smith  
 

Reserves Committee 
 
The Reserves Committee is responsible for reviewing the selection of an independent 
evaluator for undertaking each reserves evaluation as required from time to time, 
considering and reviewing the impact of changing independent evaluators, and reviewing all 
matters relating to the preparation and public disclosure of estimates of reserves. 
 
Members: Jim Perry, Colin Maclean, Gerry Orbell 
 
Exploration Committee 
 
The Exploration Committee is responsible for reviewing and evaluating the technical and 
economic merits and fit within the corporate business plan of new exploration ventures 
proposed by management.  The exploration committee meets at least annually to fulfill its 
mandate. 
 
Members: Jim Perry, Colin Maclean, Gerry Orbell 
 

 
 

 



 

   

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES 
 

Gerry Orbell, Ph.D 
Chairman  
 
Gerry Orbell is a petroleum geologist with more than 30 years of international experience.  He is 
currently Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Sound Oil plc, a United Kingdom public company 
listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange.  Previously, he was 
Executive Director, Exploration and Production, Premier Oil, plc, where he was responsible for the 
worldwide oil and gas exploration and production program.  From 1983 to 1992, he served in various 
management roles with Fina Development Ltd. and Fina Exploration, including Director of Oil 
Exploration and Production.  Dr. Orbell holds a Ph.D in geology from University College, London 
University and has been a member of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists since 1975.  
For the last seven years he has been board member and chairman of the Audit Committee of Valpak 
Ltd. an environmental compliance company in the UK. 

 

Stephen Greer 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Antrim Energy Inc. 
 
Stephen Greer has been President and Chief Executive Officer of Antrim Energy since 1999. 

Previously, he was Chairman and Managing Director of Antrim International, a predecessor company, 

and President of Antrim Resources Inc., a private oil and gas company.  Mr. Greer has over 25 years 

of petroleum exploration experience and a technical background in oil and gas exploration.  He holds 

a M.Sc. degree in geology from the University of Witwaterrand in Johannesburg, South Africa. 

 

Jay Zammit 
Director 
 
Jay Zammit is a partner with Burstall Winger LLP.  He attended the University of Manitoba and 

received a B. Comm. (Finance) degree in 1982, after which he served as a consultant to the 

International Air Transport Association.  Mr. Zammit obtained a LL.B. degree in 1987 from the 

University of Manitoba and was admitted to the Alberta bar in 1988. He was seconded to the Alberta 

Securities Commission in 1989. His preferred areas of practice are corporate finance and commercial 

law. Mr. Zammit has advised on various public and private financings, as well as trusts, funds, 

mergers and acquisitions, shareholder disputes and strategic relationships.  He has served on the 

executive of the Business Law Subsection of the Canadian Bar Association for several years. 

 

Jim Perry 
Director 
 

Mr. Perry is a graduate of the University of British Columbia, with a degree in Mineral Engineering. He 

is a Registered Professional Engineer in the Province of Alberta.  Mr. Perry served as Administrative 

Manager and Controller of the Schlumberger-Doll Research Center in Ridgefield, Connecticut from 

1978 through 1979, during which time he was directly in charge of all accounting for a research 

laboratory with a staff of more than 100 people. He has served as President of a number of public 



 

   

companies, including Computalog Ltd., Global Thermoelectric Inc., and Alternative Fuel Systems Inc. 

In these positions, he directly supervised the Chief Financial Officer of each company. 

 

Brian Moss  
Executive Vice President, Latin America 
Antrim Energy Inc. 
 

Dr. Moss was until January 2011, Chairman of the Board for Richards Oil & Gas Ltd.  Dr. Moss has 

previously served as Chief Operating Officer, Compass Petroleum Partnership. President and CEO of 

Los Altares Resources Ltd., Vice-President International for Rio Alto Exploration Ltd. and Rio Alto 

Resources International Inc. and Vice President for AEC International.  

 

Colin Maclean 
Independent Director 
 
Mr. Maclean currently serves as a Non-Executive Director. He has over 30 years of international oil 

and gas experience. Prior to joining Antrim, Mr. Maclean held various leadership roles, at BP Plc. In 

the United Kingdom, he was responsible for the development of and production from several North 

Sea fields. Internationally, he was responsible for the restructuring of several refinery, 

petrochemicals and pipeline units where he was instrumental in returning those business units to 

profitability. Mr. Maclean has an honours degree in Geology from the Queen's University of Belfast 

and a Diploma in International Business Administration from the Institut Européen d'Administration 

des Affaires (INSEAD), one of the world's leading business schools. He has served as Director, 

Brisbane Economic Development Council and was Chairman, Falkirk Community Stadium 

Development Ltd. He was also appointed by the Governor of Indiana "Sagamore of the Wabash" for 

his services in Tax Reform there.  Mr. Maclean is also a Director of Scottish Futures Trust, a company 

wholly-owned by Scottish Parliament Ministers. 

 

James Smith 
Independent Director 
 

Mr. Smith is a Chartered Accountant with over 35 years of experience in public accounting and 

industry. From 2002 until its sale in 2006, was the Chief Financial Officer of Mercury Energy 

Corporation, a private oil and natural gas company, and from 2001 until the sale of the company in 

2003, was the Chief Financial Officer of Segue Energy Corporation, a private oil and natural gas 

company. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Smith was the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Probe 

Exploration Inc., a publicly traded oil and natural gas company. While Mr. Smith was the Vice 

President and Chief Financial Officer of Crestar Energy Inc. from its inception in 1992 until 1998, the 

company completed an initial public offering, was listed on the TSX and completed several major 

debt and equity financing transactions. Mr. Smith is currently a director of Penn West Petroleum Ltd., 

Pure Energy Services Ltd. and Midway Energy Ltd. 

 

 



 

   

 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides a detailed explanation of Antrim 

Energy Inc.’s (the “Company” or “Antrim”) operating results for the fourth quarter and year ended 

December 31, 2010 compared to the fourth quarter and year ended December 31, 2009 and should 

be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Antrim.  This MD&A has 

been prepared using information available up to March 28, 2011.  The audited consolidated financial 

statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (“GAAP”).  Unless otherwise noted all amounts are reported in United States 

dollars.   

 

Non-GAAP Measures  
 

Cash flow from operations, cash flow from operations per share and netback do not have standard 

meanings under GAAP and may not be comparable to those reported by other companies.  Antrim 

utilizes cash flow from operations and net back to assess operational and financial performance to 

allocate capital among alternative projects and to assess the Company’s capacity to fund future 

capital programs.   

 

Cash flow from operations is defined as cash flow from operating activities before changes in working 

capital.  Cash flow from operations per share is calculated as cash flow from operations divided by 

the weighted-average number of outstanding shares.   Reconciliation of cash flow from operations to 

its nearest measure prescribed by GAAP is provided below.    

Calculation of Cash Flow from Operations  

 

        Three Months Ended  

        December 31 

               Year Ended 

                December 31  

 2010 2009    2010       2009 

   

Cash flow from (used in) operating 

activities  

267,033 96,454 778,806 (1,082,261) 

Less: Increase (decrease) in non-

cash working capital  

667,353 (1,474,670) (732,000) 15,088 

Cash flow (deficiency) from 

operations  

 (400,320) (1,378,216) 1,510,806 (1,067,173) 

 

 

Overview  
 

Oil and gas revenue of $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 decreased from 
$13.0 million in 2009.  Revenue decreased as a result of lower oil production partially offset 
by higher gas production and by higher oil and gas prices received.  Antrim generated cash 
flow from operations of $1.5 million in 2010 compared to a cash flow from operations 
deficiency of $1.1 million in 2009.  Cash flow increased due to lower operating and general 



 

   

and administrative costs and higher interest and other income offset by lower revenue.  
Production in Argentina decreased to 1,783 barrels of oil equivalent per day (“boepd”) from 
1,840 boepd in 2009 due to the sale of the Puesto Guardian property in February 2010 
partially offset by production from new wells drilled in Tierra del Fuego.   

 
In the United Kingdom, total proved plus probable reserves were 27.7 million barrels of oil 
equivalent (“boe”) (net to Antrim) as at December 31, 2010, the same as in 2009.  Fyne and 
Dandy total proved plus probable reserves at December 31, 2010 remained at 17.5 million 
boe, unchanged from 2009.  Up to two exploration wells are planned for the latter part of 
2011 in licences adjacent to Fyne (the “Greater Fyne Area”).  The Fyne and Dandy Fields 
represent 50.2% of the Company’s total proved plus probable reserves as at December 31, 
2010.  Causeway total proved plus probable reserves remained at 10.2 million boe (net to 
Antrim). 
 
In March 2010, Antrim signed a Conditional Letter Agreement (“CLA”) with Valiant 
Petroleum plc (“Valiant”) to sell a 30% interest in UK Continental Shelf (“UKCS”) licences 
P201 Block 211/22a South East Area and P1383 Block 211/23d (the “Causeway Licences”). In 
return, Antrim will receive up to $21.75 million towards their remaining working interest 
share of development costs of the Causeway Field.  The UK reserves previously described do 
not reflect the impact of this sale as the transaction has not yet closed.   
 
In October 2010, Antrim signed an Earn In Agreement ("EIA") with Premier Oil UK Limited 
(“Premier”) to jointly explore development options for Fyne and the Greater Fyne Area 
located in the UK Central North Sea.  Under the terms of the EIA, Premier paid initial 
consideration of $2 million to Antrim for an option to acquire a 39.9% interest in the UKCS 
Licence P077 Block 21/28a (the “Fyne Licence).  In return, Antrim will receive up to $50 
million, less the initial consideration, towards its remaining working interest share of 
development costs of the Fyne Field.  The option to farm-in has not yet been exercised. 
 
In the Tierra del Fuego Concessions in Argentina, a ten well (net 2.5) development drilling 
program designed to increase gas and NGL production from the Los Flamencos Field 
commenced in late February 2010 and was completed in December 2010.  Eight of the ten 
wells have been cased as producers and three have been tied in as of December 31, 2010.  
The remaining five cased wells are expected to be completed and placed on production by 
the end of the second quarter of 2011.  Total proved plus probable reserves in Tierra del 
Fuego decreased by 22.6% to 7.1 million boe as at December 31, 2010 compared to 9.24 
million boe in 2009 (net to Antrim).   This reduction was primarily due to 2010 production 
and the impact of remapping of undeveloped drilling locations in the gas reservoir of the Los 
Flamencos Field following the 2010 drilling campaign.  
 
On March 17, 2011, Antrim completed an equity financing with gross proceeds of $51.6 
million (net proceeds of $48.5 million).  The proceeds are to be used for appraisal drilling of 
the West Teal and Carra Prospects in the Greater Fyne Area and for general corporate 
purposes.   
 



 

   

On March 23, 2011, the UK government announced an increase to the supplementary tax on 
UK oil and gas production from 20% to 32% effective March 24, 2011, thereby increasing the 
combined rate of tax on UK oil and gas production from 50% to 62%.  The impact on Antrim 
is anticipated to be minimal over the next few years as Antrim has approximately 
$217million in UK tax loss carry-forwards which can be applied to reduce future taxable 
income.  
 
On March 28, 2011, Antrim announced that it had signed a Letter of Award (“LOA”) with 
AGR Peak Management Limited to drill two wells (the West Teal and the Carra Prospects) 
commencing in the third quarter of 2011.  The LOA is for a minimum duration of 50 days.  

 

 

United Kingdom  
 

Fyne Field  
 

In October 2010, Antrim signed an EIA with Premier to jointly explore development options 
for the Fyne and the Greater Fyne Area located in the UK Central North Sea.  Under the 
terms of the EIA, Premier paid an initial consideration of $2 million to Antrim for an option 
to acquire a 39.9% interest in the Fyne Licence.  As part of the transaction, Antrim will 
transfer operatorship of the licence should Premier exercise their option to acquire a 39.9% 
interest in the licence.  In return, Antrim will receive up to $50 million, less the initial 
consideration, towards its remaining working interest share of development costs of the 
Fyne Field.  Completion of the transaction is subject to several conditions, including 
Premier’s commitment to submit a Field Development Plan (“FDP”) to the UK Department of 
Energy and Climate Change (“DECC”) or a commitment to drill an appraisal/development 
well in East Fyne.  Antrim and Premier are currently conducting an analysis of several 
development options. 
   
Following completion of the transaction, Antrim will retain a 35.1% working interest in the 
Fyne Licence.   The agreement also provides Premier with the option to participate at a 20% 
to 50% working interest alongside Antrim in a planned drilling program in its surrounding 
licences in the Greater Fyne Area, (Antrim 100%).  
 
Antrim had been negotiating with a floating production storage and offloading (“FPSO”) 
provider for use as an export route for Fyne crude oil production, however the provider 
withdrew its available capacity in the third quarter of 2010.  Antrim is working with Premier 
on the identification of alternative export routes.  The preferred production system will 
handle up to 20,000 barrels of oil per day (“bopd”) directly from the Fyne Field, with 
potential capacity add-ons to handle additional volume from the satellite fields.   

 
The Fyne Licence expires on November 25, 2011.  DECC has agreed to a three year extension 
on the condition that a FDP is submitted by December 25, 2011 or by June 25, 2012 if an 
appraisal well is drilled on the licence prior to expiry in November 2011.  An East Fyne 
appraisal well is expected to be drilled in 2011 with the Fyne Field FDP submitted by June 
2012.  First production is anticipated in the middle of 2013.   



 

   

 

Greater Fyne Area  
 

In addition to the Fyne development, Antrim has identified several high priority drilling 
prospects on Antrim licences in the surrounding Greater Fyne Area.  Initial drilling targets are 
expected to be the “West Teal” Upper Jurassic Fulmar Prospect, at 11,500 feet drilling depth, 
in Licence P1625 Block 21/7b and the “Carra” Eocene Tay Prospect in Licence P1563 Block 
21/28b at 5,000 feet drilling depth.  The West Teal Prospect contains a discovery well drilled 
by a previous operator in 1991 that was subsequently abandoned after encountering 
mechanical problems.  Antrim plans to commence exploration drilling in the Greater Fyne 
Area in the third quarter of 2011.  The drilling will fall within the joint venture area with 
Premier. 
 
In October 2010, DECC notified Antrim that it had been awarded licences in the UK 26th 
Seaward Licensing Round with an effective date of January 10, 2011.  The two new licences 
are Block 21/29d, located in the Greater Fyne Area, and Block 21/7b located north of the 
Greater Fyne Area.  Both blocks contain additional drilling prospects, which are currently 
being evaluated.      
 
 
Causeway Field  
 

In March 2010, Antrim signed a CLA with Valiant to sell a 30% interest in the Causeway 
Licences.  In return, Antrim will receive up to $21.75 million towards their remaining working 
interest share of development costs of the Causeway Field.  Completion of the transaction is 
subject to several conditions, including sanction of a FDP and the consent of DECC. 
 
As part of the transaction, Antrim transferred operatorship of the licences to Valiant.  
Following completion of the transaction, Antrim will retain a 35.5% working interest in the 
Causeway Licences. 
 
Antrim previously assumed the export route for Causeway production would be to the 
Dunlin platform.  Antrim was unable to reach an agreement for a tie-in at Dunlin in the third 
quarter of 2010 and along with its partners began the assessment of other infrastructure 
alternatives.  The operator (Valiant) is currently negotiating with another industry partner in 
respect of an offshore platform.  Antrim expects that agreement will be reached in respect 
to an offshore platform as an export route for Causeway production.  Antrim anticipates 
costs to be similar to the previously assumed Dunlin export route, and reserves are not likely 
to be materially impacted.   
 
Antrim and Valiant are currently discussing the FDP to be submitted to DECC with respect to 
the Causeway Field.  Among the items being discussed is Valiant's estimate of reserves 
associated with Phase II and later production phases of the field, which may be lower than 
that of Antrim and its independent reserve evaluator McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd.  
Such discussions are at a preliminary stage and subject to finalization as the process of 



 

   

preparing the FDP evolves.  Antrim expects that a finalized FDP will be submitted to DECC by 
the middle of 2011, with first production expected in the middle of 2012.  
 

 
 
Argentina  
 
In 2010, the Company completed a ten well (net 2.5) drilling program on its Tierra del Fuego 
Concessions in southern Argentina.  The program targeted the liquid-rich gas bearing 
sandstone reservoirs of the Springhill Formation in the Los Flamencos Field.  Of the ten wells 
drilled in 2010, eight were cased for production and two were plugged and abandoned.  
Three cased wells have been completed and tied-in.  The remaining five wells are expected 
to be completed and placed on production by the end of the second quarter of 2011.  With 
the tie-in of the additional wells, Antrim’s daily production is expected to average 
approximately 1,800 boepd in 2011.   
 
Antrim’s average gas price for the fourth quarter of 2010 was $1.80 per mcf compared to 
$1.63 for the same period in 2009, a 10.4% increase.  In the fourth quarter 2010, oil prices 
averaged $54.60 per barrel compared to $44.46 per barrel for the same period in 2009, a 
22.8% increase.  Antrim’s gas price averaged $1.84 per mcf for the year ended December 31, 
2010 compared to $1.53 per mcf in 2009.  Oil prices averaged $49.34 per barrel in 2010 
compared to $39.89 per barrel in 2009. 
 
Antrim sells all of its oil production and approximately 80% of its natural gas production from 
Tierra del Fuego to the Argentine mainland.  These sales generate value-added tax (“VAT”) of 
21%, which is retained by Antrim due to favourable tax laws pertaining to Tierra del Fuego.  
VAT of $2.1 million (2009 - $1.7 million) is reported as interest and other income and is not 
included in Antrim’s per unit sales prices.  
 
Antrim’s field netbacks in Argentina, based on sales, were $7.51 (2009 - $3.75) and $9.05 
(2009 - $5.92) per boe for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2010.  
The increase in the 2010 field netbacks, as compared to 2009, was due to the lower 
operating costs partially offset by a higher proportion of gas to oil sales.  
 
The Company applied for “Gas Plus” pricing incentives for new gas that will be produced 
from the wells being drilled in 2010.  If approved by the federal authorities, this will permit 
Antrim to sell its gas in the higher-priced industrial market on the mainland.   
 
In February 2010, Antrim sold its non-operated 40% working interest in the Puesto Guardian 
Concession effective January 1, 2010, for consideration in the form of a $1.4 million non-
interest bearing promissory note.  The Puesto Guardian Field was reaching the end of its 
economic life and the purchaser retained responsibility of all abandonment and 
environmental remediation work on the concession.  
 
Effective February 25, 2010, Antrim relinquished its non-operated 70% working interest in 
the Medianera Concession and its non-operated 70% working interest in the Tres Nidos Sur 



 

   

Concession.  Medianera production, as previously reported, was shut-in in February 2009.  
Well abandonment and seismic and drilling obligations on the properties were assumed by 
the operator of both concessions. 
 
On December 7, 2010 Antrim announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire a 
50.1% interest in and operatorship of the 307,215 acre Cerro de Los Leones Exploration 
Concession, located in Argentina’s Neuquén Basin.   
 
Cerro de Los Leones is situated in the northern portion of the Neuquén Basin in the Province 
of Mendoza.  The existing 2-D seismic coverage of 700 km provides regional control and has 
identified numerous lower Tertiary and Cretaceous structural and stratigraphic leads at 
drilling depths of between 5,000 and 8,200 feet.  Antrim is currently working on obtaining 
the necessary environmental approvals to shoot a 3-D seismic program in the first half of 
2011.  At least one exploration well is planned for the latter part of 2011. 
 
Antrim’s Argentine operations are self-sustaining thereby enabling the Company to evaluate 
other opportunities in Argentina using the cash flow generated from the Tierra del Fuego 
properties.  
 

Tanzania 
 

In December 2010, two agreements were signed in Tanzania which are expected to lead to 
the resumption of exploration activities on the production sharing agreement for the 
Pemba-Zanzibar exploration licence offshore and onshore Tanzania (the “P-Z PSA”).  Antrim 
signed an agreement with Ras Al Khaimah Gas Tanzania Limited ("RAK Gas") and NOR Energy 
AS ("NOR") whereby Antrim replaced its previous right to be carried for 30% through the 
pre-drilling exploration phase of the P-Z PSA with a 20% carried interest through the pre-
drilling phase and an additional 10% right to participate in the P-Z PSA to be exercised up to 
180 days following receipt of the initial drilling results.  The carried interests (up to 30%) are 
to be repaid from future production. Concurrent with this agreement, RAK Gas and NOR 
entered into an agreement that provides RAK Gas with the option to acquire control of the 
P-Z PSA.  The P-Z PSA has been in a state of effective force majeure for several years due to a 
dispute between the federal government of Tanzania and the provincial government of 
Zanzibar regarding revenue sharing, and access to the licence area for petroleum exploration 
activities has been blocked.  RAK Gas is currently drafting a revised work program for the P-Z 
PSA for submission to the government of Tanzania.   
 



 

   

Financial and Operating Results  
 

All amounts reported in this MD&A related to the three month periods ended December 31, 2010 

and 2009 are unaudited.   

 

   Three Months Ended 

December 31 

Year Ended 

December 31 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

Financial Results ($000’s except per share amounts)     

Revenue  2,693 3,371 12,539 12,953 

Cash flow (used in) from operations (1) (400) (1,378) 1,511 (1,067) 

Cash flow (used in) from operations per share (1) (0.00) (0.01) 0.01 (0.01) 

Net (loss)  (2,681) (6,071) (7,962) (12,560) 

Net (loss) per share – basic  (0.02) (0.04) (0.06) (0.09) 

Total assets  291,194 285,119 291,194 285,119 

Working capital  26,690 31,960 26,690 31,960 

Expenditures on petroleum and natural gas properties  248 (548) 6,695 4,782 

Bank debt - - - - 

     

Common shares outstanding (000’s)      

End of period  135,572 135,349 135,572 135,349 

Weighted average – basic  135,360 135,291 135,387 135,284 

Weighted average – diluted  136,945 136,041 136,971 136,034 

     

Production      

Oil, natural gas and NGL production (boe per day) (2) 1,757 1,990 1,783 1,840 

 
 
 

(1) Cash flow from operations and cash flow from operations per share are Non-GAAP Measures.  
Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  

 
(2) The boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf:1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method 

primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the 
wellhead. 

 



 

   

Financial and Operating Review  
Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Revenue and Production 
 
Revenue  
 

Revenue from the sale of oil, natural gas and NGL for the three month periods and year ended 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following: 

 

 Three Months 

Ended December 31 

            Year Ended 

             December 31 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

($000’s)      

Oil  1,100 1,888 6,033 8,007 

Natural gas  1,464 1,353 5,923 4,572 

NGL’s 129 130 583 374 

Total Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Revenue   

2,693 

 

3,371 

 

12,539 

 

12,953 

 

Revenue decreased in the fourth quarter of 2010, as compared to the same period in 2009, due to 

lower oil sales volumes offset by higher product prices for oil and gas.  

 

The sale of crude oil from Tierra del Fuego can be impacted by intermittent shipments.  Oil 

production from Tierra del Fuego is stored and periodically transported by ship to a refinery on the 

mainland.  As at December 31, 2010, Antrim held 11,100 (December 31, 2009 – 19,000) barrels of oil 

in inventory in Tierra del Fuego.   

 

Net revenue after royalties and export taxes of $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 

decreased from $11.1 million in 2009.  For the three months ended December 31, 2010, net revenue 

after royalties and export taxes was $2.2 million, compared to $2.8 million for the same period in 

2009.  The decrease in net revenue is a result of lower oil production and higher royalties and export 

taxes partially offset by higher gas production and higher product prices. 

 

Production  
 

The following table provides a comparative analysis of average daily production of oil, natural gas 

and NGL for the three month periods and years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:  

 

 Three Months Ended  

             December 31 

                  Year Ended  

                    December 31 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

     

Oil  (bbl/day) 303 512 326 530 

Natural gas (mmcf/day)  8.4 8.5 8.3 7.5 

NGL (bbl/day)   59 65 65 53 

Total Production (boe/day)  1,757 1,990 1,783 1,840 

 



 

   

 

Gas production increased for the year ended December 31, 2010, as compared to the same periods 

in 2009, due to well tie-ins to the San Martin pipeline during 2009 and new wells drilled in 2010.  In 

the year ended December 31, 2010, Antrim recorded oil production from Puesto Guardian for the 

period until the closing date of the sale on February 16, 2010.  As a result, the average daily oil 

production reported includes 28 bbl/day of oil from Puesto Guardian (2009 - 225 bbl/day). 

 

Oil prices averaged $49.34 per barrel in the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to $39.89 per 

barrel in 2009.  For the fourth quarter 2010, oil prices averaged $54.60 per barrel compared to 

$44.46 for the same period in 2009.   

 

Oil production from the Tierra del Fuego Concessions is sold with reference to the price of West 

Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) crude oil less a quality discount.  Domestic oil sales are also subject to in-

country price discounts.  In November 2007, changes to the export tax effectively limited the 

maximum price that producers could receive for crude oil exports to $42 per barrel, regardless of the 

price of WTI.  Despite this tax imposed ceiling price, increases in mainland Argentina demand have 

resulted in increased market prices for oil since the middle of 2009, resulting in increases in the oil 

price received.  

 

Antrim’s gas sales prices in Argentina averaged $1.80 and $1.84 per mcf in the three and twelve 

month periods ended December 31, 2010 compared to $1.63 and $1.53 per mcf for the same periods 

in 2009.  Average gas prices increased due to the negotiation of higher priced contracts.  

 

NGL prices, before export taxes, averaged $28.25 per barrel in the year ended December 31, 2010 

compared to $22.97 per barrel for the comparable period in 2009.  For the fourth quarter 2010, NGL 

prices averaged $33.39 per barrel compared to $13.22 for the same period in 2009.  NGL prices 

increased in the fourth quarter of 2010 as compared to 2009, as the Argentina Secretary of Energy 

allowed exports of NGL to Chile, resulting in decreased sales of NGL into the lower-priced mainland 

and Tierra del Fuego markets.   

Royalties and Export Tax  
 

The following table provides a comparative analysis of royalty and export tax expenses for the three 

month periods and years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

 

              Three Months Ended 

           December 31 

                 Year Ended 

                   December 31 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

($000’s)      

Royalties 433 540 1,782 1,777 

Percentage of Total revenue  16.1% 16.0% 14.2% 13.7% 

     

Export tax  32 36 146 108 

Percentage of NGL revenue  24.9% 27.6% 25.1% 29.0% 

 

Royalty expenses, as a percentage of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2010, 

increased in 2010 compared to 2009 as government mandated royalty rates in Tierra del Fuego 



 

   

increased.  Export taxes, as a percentage of NGL revenue, decreased for the year ended December 

31, 2010, compared to 2009, as exports to Chile were curtailed due to restrictions in obtaining export 

permits.  

 
Netbacks  
 

The following table provides a comparative analysis of field netbacks, based on sales, for the three 

month periods and years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:  

 

       Three Months Ended  

           December 31 

         Year Ended 

            December 31  

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

$/boe     

Wellhead price  17.68 18.49 19.27 19.17 

Royalties  (2.84) (2.96) (2.74) (2.63) 

Export tax  (0.21) (0.20) (0.22) (0.16) 

Operating expenses  (7.12) (11.58) (7.25) (10.46) 

Netback  7.51 3.75 9.06 5.92 

     

Oil, Natural gas and NGL sales (boe) 152,336 182,319 650,804 675,767 

Oil, Natural gas and NGL sales (boepd) 1,656 1,982 1,783 1,851 

 

Field netbacks increased in 2010, as compared to 2009, primarily due to lower operating costs 

partially offset by a higher proportion of gas to oil sales in 2010. 

The elimination of high operating costs related to the sale of Puesto Guardian in February 2010 and 

drilling rig tolling charges of $1.0 million or $1.48 per boe in 2009 resulted in operating costs on a 

boe basis decreasing to $7.25 compared to $10.46 for 2009.  

 

Average wellhead prices were impacted as lower valued gas, on a boe basis, accounted for 78% of 

sales in 2010, as compared to 68% in 2009.   

 

General and Administrative  
 

General and administrative (“G&A”) costs decreased in 2010 to $6.6 million compared to $7.1 million 

for the comparable period in 2009.  The decrease in G&A was due to reduced financing costs in 2010 

offset by the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates and lower cost recoveries from joint 

venture partners.  During 2010, Antrim capitalized $1.5 million (2009 – $2.9 million) of G&A costs 

related to exploration and development activity in Argentina and the United Kingdom.  

 

Depletion and Depreciation 
 

Depletion and depreciation expense was $7.4 million for 2010 compared to $5.7 million in 2009.  The 

consolidated per unit charge for 2010 was $10.09 per boe compared to $8.67 per boe in the same 

period of 2009.  The per unit charge increased in 2010, as compared to 2009, due to 2010 drilling 

expenditures combined with a reduction in reserves due to the remapping in the Los Flamencos 

Field.  No depletion was recorded with respect to the $235.7 million of United Kingdom assets as 



 

   

they are classified as unproven properties.  Depletion of these assets will commence with 

production.   

 

Income Taxes  
 

The following table provides a comparative analysis of income tax expenses for the three month 

periods and years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:  

 

 

      Three Months Ended 

      December 31 

                              Year Ended 

                                 December 31  

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

($000’s)     

Current income taxes  72 3 131 84 

Future income taxes  - 509 - 321 

Total  72 512 131 405 

 

Current income taxes relate to taxes based on the book value of assets in Argentina.  

 

Future income taxes arise from differences between accounting and the tax basis of assets and 

liabilities.  As of December 31, 2010, no future income tax assets were recorded due to uncertainty 

with respect to the ability of Antrim to generate sufficient taxable income to utilize the unrecognized 

losses.  Income generated in Tierra del Fuego is tax exempt.    

 

Foreign Exchange Loss and Comprehensive (Loss) Income  
 

The measurement currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar, while its reporting currency is the 

US dollar.  A significant portion of the Company’s activities are transacted in or referenced to US 

dollars, Canadian dollars, British pounds sterling or Argentine pesos.  The Company’s operating costs 

and certain of the Company’s payments in order to maintain property interest are made in the local 

currency of the jurisdiction where the applicable property is located.  As a result of these factors, 

fluctuations in the Canadian dollar, British pounds sterling, Argentine peso, and US dollar could result 

in unanticipated fluctuations in the Company’s financial results.   

 

The Company incurred a foreign exchange loss of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 

compared to a loss of $0.2 million in the same period in 2009. 

Antrim recorded unrealized gains on translation of the consolidated assets and liabilities of $8.4 

million and $11.3 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2010. 

 
Cash Flow and Net Loss 
 

In the three month period ended December 2010, Antrim incurred a cash flow from operations 

deficiency of $0.4 million ($0.00 per share) compared to a cash flow from operations deficiency of 

$1.4 million (($0.01) per share) in the same period in 2009.  Antrim generated cash flow from 

operations of $1.5 million ($0.01 per share) in 2010 compared to a cash flow from operations 

deficiency of $1.1 million ($(0.01) per share) in 2009.  Cash flow increased in 2010, as compared to 



 

   

2009, due to lower operating and general and administrative costs and higher interest and other 

income offset by lower revenue. 

 

In the fourth quarter of 2010 and 2009, Antrim incurred net losses of $2.7 million and $6.1 million 

respectively.  For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company incurred a net loss of $8.0 million 

compared to $12.6 million in the same period in 2009.  

 

Capital Expenditures  
 

Antrim incurred capital expenditures related to petroleum and natural gas properties of $6.7 million 

and $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.  The 2010 capital expenditures are 

net of $2 million received from Premier for the Fyne option.  Capital expenditures in 2010 relate to 

the drilling program in Argentina and ongoing development costs on the UK properties.   

 

Financial Resources and Liquidity  
 

As at December 31, 2010, Antrim had working capital of $26.7 million and no bank debt.  There were 

no restrictions on the use of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2010.  Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities decreased to $2.4 million at December 31, 2010 from $3.4 million as at December 

31, 2009.   

 

In March 2011, Antrim completed an equity financing with gross proceeds of $51.6 million (net 

proceeds of $48.5 million).   

 

As part of the CLA with Valiant, Valiant agreed to loan Antrim up to $2.2 million on a non-interest 

bearing basis to satisfy cash calls and invoices for joint operations prior to the completion of the sale.  

The loan relates to both the 30% interest conditionally sold to Valiant and Antrim’s remaining 35.5% 

share.  The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2010 was $0.8 million.  Upon successful 

completion of the sale, the outstanding loan balance related to Antrim’s remaining 35.5% interest 

will be applied to and reduce the $21.75 million carried contribution.   If the sale is not completed, 

the outstanding balance on the entire 65.5% interest will be due and payable to Valiant immediately.   

 

Antrim invests cash not required for immediate operations needs in Canadian denominated short-

term bankers’ acceptances and money market instruments.  

  

Although there have been improvements in the global economy and financial markets in recent 

months, restrictions on availability of credit remain and may limit Antrim’s ability to access debt or 

equity financing for its development projects.  Antrim forecasts cash flows against a range of 

macroeconomic and financing market scenarios in an effort to identify future commitments and 

arrange financing, if necessary.  The Company has reduced the time frame in projecting its future 

expenditures from an annual budget to a quarterly and, where applicable, monthly forecast process 

to enable Antrim to better adapt to changing market conditions.  Although Antrim may need to raise 

additional funds from internal or external sources, if available, in order to develop both of its major 

UK properties, the Company maintains flexibility to manage its financial commitments.  

 



 

   

Antrim’s planned capital program for 2011 includes ongoing development of the Fyne and Causeway 

Fields and the exploration of the 25th bid round licences and the Cerro de Los Leones property in 

Argentina.  Fyne and Causeway will be predominately funded by the carried interest obtained from 

the EIA and CLA, respectively.  The remaining capital expenditures will be funded by existing cash 

resources combined with operating cash flow.  With the net proceeds from the March 2011 equity 

financing, Antrim plans to drill two exploratory wells in the UK North Sea. 

 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments  
 

Antrim has several commitments in respect of its petroleum and natural gas properties and 

operating leases as at December 31, 2010 as follows:  

 

       2011         2012      2013       2014        2015 Thereafter 

($000’s)       

United Kingdom       

 Fyne and Dandy (1)  70 10,024 24 24 24 24 

 Causeway (2) 138 184 32 32 32 32 

 25th Bid Round(3) 157 12,580 19,000 - - - 

Argentina        

 Tierra del Fuego  650 650 650 650 650 650 

 Cerro de Los 

Leones (4) 

4,433 1,246 1,246 - - - 

Office Leases  300 262 111 111 111 249 

Total  5,748 24,946 21,063 817 817 955 

 

(1) The Company acquired a 75% working interest in Fyne and Dandy and upon approval of a Field 

Development Plan by DECC, has  agreed to pay an additional $10 million as part of the acquisition 

cost of the block.   

(2) Relates to Antrim’s 65.5% interest in Causeway prior to the conditional sale of 30% interest to 

Valiant. 

(3) The Company acquired two licences in the 25th bid round which include contingent drilling 

commitments estimated at $28 million in 2012 and 2013.  These commitments will be waived by 

DECC if they agree that drilling the wells would not be an appropriate use of resources.  The 

remaining licences include committed licence fees and seismic costs to drill or drop decision. 

(4) Relates to Antrim’s 50.1% interest in the exploration concession and includes seismic and firm 

well commitment costs. 

 

On March 4, 2010, the Company announced that it had signed a CLA to sell a 30% interest in the UK 

North Sea Causeway Licences.  The Company will receive up to $21.75 million contributed to the 

Company’s remaining share of development costs of bringing the field to production start-up.  

Completion of the transaction is subject to several conditions including the sanction of a FDP by DECC 

which is anticipated in 2011.    

 

On October 6, 2010, Antrim announced the signing of an EIA with Premier to jointly explore 

development options for Fyne and the Greater Fyne Area.  Premier paid Antrim $2 million in initial 



 

   

consideration for an option to acquire a 39.9% interest in the Fyne Licence in return for a up to a $50 

million carried contribution, less the initial consideration, towards the pre-development and 

development costs of the Fyne Field.  The EIA also provides Premier the option to participate up to 

50% alongside Antrim in a planned drilling program in the Greater Fyne Area.   

 

On March 28, 2011, Antrim announced that it had signed a Letter of Award (“LOA”) with AGR Peak 

Management Limited to drill two wells commencing in the third quarter of 2011.  The LOA is for a 

minimum duration of 50 days at a contractual obligation of $245,000 per day plus services, for an 

estimated cost of $27.3 million. 

 

Outlook  
 

Antrim expects to have a FDP for Causeway submitted and approved in 2011 for an anticipated 

production startup in the middle of 2012.  Production startup from the Fyne Field is anticipated in 

the middle of 2013.   

 

In 2011, Antrim will use its strong financial position to take a leading role in the exploration of the 

Greater Fyne Area.  The drilling program is scheduled to begin in the third quarter with a well drilled 

and tested on the West Teal Prospect (Antrim 100%).  The well is expected to take 55 days to drill 

and test and cost approximately $30 million. 

 

An additional exploration well in the Greater Fyne Area is expected to be drilled on the Carra 

Prospect.  The well is expected to take 19 days to drill, at an estimated cost of $12 million.  

 

An East Fyne appraisal well is scheduled to be drilled on the Fyne Field.  This well is intended to de-

risk the eastern extent of the Fyne Field and extend the submission deadline of the FDP for Fyne to 

June 25, 2012.   

 

In Argentina, Antrim’s focus will be on the recently acquired Cerro de Los Leones Exploration 

Concession (Antrim 50.1% and operator) in the Neuquén Basin.  A 3-D seismic program will be shot 

to support the drilling of at least one exploration well on the licence in 2011.  Cash flow from 

Antrim’s expected 1,800 boepd from Tierra del Fuego will be used to support this exploration 

program and any new in-country opportunities.   

 

In East Africa, Antrim holds an option to participate up to 30% working interest in an exploration 

program on the Tanzanian Pemba-Zanzibar Licence.  This region has recently experienced a 

significant increase in exploration activity, with several major discoveries announced by consortiums 

led by Anadarko and British Gas.  The Pemba-Zanzibar Licence has been in an effective force majeure 

for several years.  Antrim expects this impasse could be resolved with the recently announced 

agreement signed with RAK Gas LLC, a UAE–based exploration and production company with 

interests elsewhere in Tanzania. 

 

Antrim also considers other global exploration opportunities and views its bilateral strategy of 

balancing longer term and capital-intensive investments in the UK North Sea with shorter investment 

cycle on-shore exploration and production opportunities as central to its corporate development.   

 



 

   

Subsequent Event  
 

On March 17, 2011, the Company issued 48,191,700 common shares at a price of Cdn $1.07 per 

common share for gross proceeds of Cdn $51.6 million (net proceeds Cdn $48.5 million) which 

included 6,191,700 common shares issued to the underwriters pursuant to the 98.3% exercise of the 

overallotment option.   

 

Summary of Quarterly Results  
 

 

 

 

 

($000, except 

per share 

amounts) 

 

 

Oil, Natural Gas 

and NGL Revenue, 

Net of Royalties 

and Export Tax 

 

 

 

Cash Flow from  

Operations    

(deficiency) 

 

 

 

 

 

      (Loss) 

 

 

 

 

  (Loss) Per          

Share – Basic 

     

2010     

Fourth quarter  2,228 (400) (2,681) (0.02) 

Third quarter  3,498 1,509 (1,150) (0.01) 

Second quarter 2,284 236 (2,020) (0.02) 

First quarter  2,601 166 (2,111) (0.01) 

Total 10,611 1,511 (7,962) (0.06) 

     

2009      

Fourth quarter  2,796 (1,378) (6,071) (0.04) 

Third quarter 3,590 744 (1,751) (0.01) 

Second quarter 1,821 (716) (2,888) (0.03) 

First quarter  2,861 283 (1,850) (0.01) 

Total  11,068 (1,067) (12,560) (0.09) 

 

Antrim’s net revenue and cash flow from operations has fluctuated over the quarters due to 

intermittent shipments of crude oil from Tierra del Fuego, increasing gas sales and lower oil 

production due to decline rates and property sales in early 2010.  Fourth quarter cash from the 

operations in 2010 was negatively impacted by lower production and higher general and 

administrative expenses.  Fourth quarter cash flow from operations and loss in 2009 was negatively 

impacted by VAT valuation allowances.  Fourth quarter losses in 2009 also increased due to the 

write-down of investments and other non-current assets and future income tax assets.   

 



 

   

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 

Preparing financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP requires management to make 

certain judgments and estimates.  Changes to these judgments and estimates could have a material 

effect on the Company’s financial statements and financial position.  The estimates of proved and 

probable reserves are critical to many aspects of the Company’s financial statements, including net 

income and the carrying amount of petroleum and natural properties and future asset retirement 

obligations. 

 

The Company also incurs costs related to properties for which no proved reserves may be 

attributable.  These costs must also be assessed to ascertain whether impairment has occurred.   In 

certain instances, the Company may be required under Canadian GAAP to record an impairment 

charge against these costs even though the Company has maintained and intends to maintain the 

underlying licence or agreement pertaining to the properties.  

   

The fair value of the asset retirement obligations is estimated and recorded on a discounted basis 

over the expected life of the assets.  Factors that may affect the fair value of these obligations 

include the expected costs to complete the retirement, the useful lives of the assets and the discount 

rate applied.  Cost estimates may vary as the extent of work required changes either as a result of 

operational considerations or changes to environmental legislation.    

 

The amount recorded as stock-based compensation expense is determined using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model, which includes numerous estimates as described in Note 12 to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

New Accounting Pronouncements 
 

In December 2008, the CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combinations” which replaced CICA 

Section 1581 of the same name.  Section 1582 established principles and requirements of the 

acquisition method for business combinations and related disclosures.  This statement applies 

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 

the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 2011.  Adoption of this accounting 

standard is not expected to have a material effect on Antrim’s consolidated financial statements.  

 

Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards  
In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed that the mandatory 

changeover from existing GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) is to take 

effect for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  The Company will report its results in 

accordance with IFRS starting in 2011, with comparative IFRS information for the 2010 fiscal year.  

The key elements of the Company’s conversion plan include determining appropriate changes to 

accounting policies and disclosures, identifying and implementing associated changes to processes 

and information systems, ensuring compliance to internal controls and educating and training staff 

and other stakeholders.  The Company has completed a diagnostic analysis of the differences 

between GAAP and IFRS and is finalizing accounting policy alternatives, the IFRS opening balance 

sheet and systems changes. 

 



 

   

Possible significant accounting difference between Antrim’s current accounting policies under GAAP 

and expected accounting policies under IFRS are as follows: 

 

First-time adoption exemption – the International Accounting Standards Board has approved 

additional exemptions from the retrospective application of IFRS for first time adopters.  Of most 

relevance to Antrim is an exemption that allows full cost oil and gas companies to elect, at the date 

of transition to IFRS, to measure exploration evaluation assets at the amount determined under 

GAAP and to measure oil and gas assets in the development or production phases by allocating the 

amount determined under GAAP to the underlying assets pro-rata using reserve volumes or reserve 

values as of that date.  The Company is planning to adopt this exemption. 

 

Re-ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŜȄǇƭƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ όά9ϧ9έύ ŜȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΣ Ǉƭŀƴǘ ŀƴŘ 

ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘ όάttϧ9έύ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘed balance sheet – this will consist of the book value of 

Antrim’s undeveloped land that relates primarily to its UK properties which are currently excluded 

from the depletion calculation and are assessed for impairment.  Antrim will re-classify 

approximately $223 million of book value from PP&E to E&E.  E&E assets will not be depleted and 

must be assessed for impairment when indicators suggest the possibility of impairment.  The 

Company anticipates that certain E&E assets, where no further exploration or evaluation is planned 

or budgeted, will be impaired, by approximately $6.0 million, at the date of transition.  The 

adjustment will be recorded as an increase in deficit.   

 

Calculation of depletion expense for PP&E – upon transitioning to IFRS, Antrim has the option to 

calculate depletion using a reserve base of proved reserves or both proved and probable reserves.  

Antrim intends to use both proved and probable reserves for the calculation of depletion expense. 

 

Impairment of PP&E – under IFRS, impairment of PP&E must be assessed at a more detailed level 

than what is currently required under GAAP.  Impairment calculations will be performed at the cash 

generating unit (“CGU”) level based on discounted cash flows using either total proven or proven 

plus probable reserves.  Under GAAP, undiscounted estimated future cash flows are used to assess 

for impairment.  As such, impairment losses may be recognized earlier under IFRS than under GAAP.  

Impairment losses may be reversed under IFRS if there is an increase in the recoverable amount.  The 

Company does not anticipate an impairment upon conversion to IFRS. 

 

Asset retirement obligation – under IFRS, the Company has made a preliminary decision to discount 

the estimated fair value of its asset retirement obligations and the related PP&E using a risk-free 

interest rate.  Antrim plans to adopt the first-time adoption exemption for full-cost oil and gas 

companies described above and differences in the liability calculated under GAAP and IFRS as at 

January 1, 2010 will arise due to different discount rates or cost estimates.  As a result, the asset 

retirement obligation is estimated to increase by approximately $3.0 million, with the increase being 

charged to deficit.   

 

Cumulative translation differences – under IFRS, translation gains or losses are not recognized in 

profit and loss until disposition of the business for foreign operations with functional currencies 

different from that of the parent company.  The Company plans to adopt the first-time adoption 

exemption available in IFRS 1, whereby cumulative translation differences are deemed to be zero at 



 

   

the transition balance sheet date with the difference of approximately $2.0 million being recorded 

directly to deficit. 

 

Foreign currency ς Under GAAP all of the Company’s UK subsidiaries were integrated foreign 

operations.  Therefore, monetary items were translated at period end rates and non-monetary items 

were translated at historical rates with all foreign currency gains and losses recognized in profit or 

loss.  IFRS requires that the functional currency of each subsidiary of the Company be determined 

separately and all monetary and non-monetary items translated at period end rates with all foreign 

currency gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income.   

 

Under IFRS, it was determined that the British pound was the functional currency of all UK 

subsidiaries and therefore as at the transition date a foreign exchange translation reserve had 

accumulated.  In accordance with IFRS 1 optional exemptions, the Company has elected to transfer 

the foreign currency translation reserve, recognized as a separate component of equity, directly to 

deficit resulting in an estimated increase in deficit by approximately $39 million. 

 

Stock-based compensation – under IFRS, stock-based compensation will be expensed based on a 

graded vesting schedule rather than the straight-line method utilized by the Company under GAAP.  

The Company estimates that the difference calculated, using the two methods for options that were 

not fully vested on the transition date, will result in an approximate increase in deficit of $1.5 million.  

 

The impacts on the Company’s financial position and results of operations for the accounting policy 

differences previously identified are not finalized. The Company expects to finalize the transitional 

balance sheet in the first quarter of 2011.  In the first quarter of 2011, Antrim will complete is 

assessment of accounting policy alternatives and complete systems changes.   

 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  
 

Antrim has established disclosure controls, procedures and corporate policies so that its consolidated 

financial results are presented accurately, fairly and on a timely basis.  The Chief Executive Officer 

and Chief Financial Officer have designed or have caused such internal controls over financial 

reporting to be designed under their supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and preparation of the Company’s financial statements in accordance 

with Canadian GAAP.  The Company tested and evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls 

and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting as at December 31, 2010.  As a result of 

this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded the Company’s 

disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting have been designed 

and are operating effectively.    

 

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations.  Therefore, 

these systems provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that financial information is accurate 

and complete.  

 

 
 
 



 

   

Related Party and Off-Balance Sheet Transactions  
 

Antrim may from time to time enter into arrangements with related parties.  In 2010, Antrim 

incurred fees of $185,934 (2009 - $63,178) payable to Burstall Winger LLP, a law firm in which a 

director of the Company is a partner. The Company had no off-balance sheet transactions in the year 

ended December 31, 2010.  

 

Risks and Uncertainties 
 

The oil and gas industry involves a wide range of risks which include but are not limited to the 

uncertainty of finding new commercial fields, securing markets for existing reserves, commodity 

price fluctuations, exchange and interest rate costs and changes to government regulations, 

including regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, allowable production and 

environmental protection and access to off-shore production facilities in the UK. The oil and natural 

gas industry is intensely competitive and the Company competes with a large number of companies 

that have greater resources. 

 

The Company’s ability to increase reserves in the future will depend not only on its ability to develop 

its present properties but also on its ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or 

prospects.  The acquisition and development of properties also requires that sufficient funds, 

including funds from outside sources, will be available in a timely manner.  The availability of equity 

or debt financing is affected by many factors, many of which are outside the control of the Company.  

Recent world financial market events and the resultant negative impact on economic conditions have 

increased the risk and uncertainty of the availability of equity or debt financing. 

 

The Company has significant investments in Argentina and the United Kingdom and its primary 

source of revenue is from two oil and gas properties in Argentina.  A number of risks are associated 

with conducting foreign operations over which the Company has no control, including currency 

instability, potential and actual civil disturbances, restriction of funds movement outside of these 

countries, the ability of joint venture partners to fund their obligations, changes of laws affecting 

foreign ownership and existing contracts, environmental requirements, crude oil and natural gas 

price and production regulation, royalty rates, OPEC quotas, potential expropriation of property 

without fair compensation, retroactive tax changes and possible interruption of oil deliveries.   

 

Further discussions regarding the Company’s risks and uncertainties, can be found in the Company’s 

Annual Information Form dated March 28, 2011 which is filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

 

Forward-Looking Statements  
 

This MD&A and any documents incorporated by reference herein contain certain forward-looking statements 

and forward-looking information which are based on Antrim's internal reasonable expectations, estimates, 

projections, assumptions and beliefs as at the date of such statements or information. Forward-looking 

statements often, but not always, are identified by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “believe”, 

“plan”, “estimate”, “expect”, “targeting”, “forecast”, “achieve” and “intend” and statements that an event or 

result “may”, “will”, “should”, “could” or “might” occur or be achieved and other similar expressions.  These 

statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, 

http://www.sedar.com/


 

   

assumptions and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those 

anticipated in such forward-looking statements and information.  Antrim believes that the expectations 

reflected in those forward-looking statements and information are reasonable but no assurance can be given 

that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements and information included 

in this MD&A and any documents incorporated by reference herein should not be unduly relied upon.  Such 

forward-looking statements and information speak only as of the date of this MD&A or the particular 

document incorporated by reference herein and Antrim does not undertake any obligation to publicly update 

or revise any forward-looking statements or information, except as required by applicable laws. 

 

In particular, this MD&A and any documents incorporated by reference herein, contain specific forward-looking 

statements and information pertaining to the quality of and future net revenues from Antrim's reserves of oil, 

natural gas liquids (“NGL”) and natural gas production levels. This MD&A may also contain specific forward-

looking statements and information pertaining to commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and 

interest rates, capital expenditure programs and other expenditures, supply and demand for oil, NGL’s and 

natural gas, expectations regarding Antrim's ability to raise capital, to continually add to reserves through 

acquisitions and development, the schedules and timing of certain projects, Antrim's strategy for growth, 

Antrim's future operating and financial results, treatment under governmental and other regulatory regimes 

and tax, environmental and other laws and the start up of production from the Causeway or Fyne Fields in the 

UK North Sea. 

 

With respect to forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A and any documents incorporated by 

reference herein, Antrim has made assumptions regarding Antrim's ability to obtain additional drilling rigs and 

other equipment in a timely manner, obtain regulatory approvals, future oil and natural gas production levels 

from Antrim's properties and the price obtained from the sales of such production, the level of future capital 

expenditure required to exploit and develop reserves, the ability of Antrim’s partners to meet their 

commitments as they relate to the Company and more specifically the ability of Valiant to honour its 

commitments as identified in the CLA and Antrim’s reliance on industry partners for the development of some 

of its properties.  Antrim’s ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms, the general stability of the economic 

and political environment in which Antrim operates and the future of oil and natural gas pricing.  In respect to 

these assumptions, the reader is cautioned that assumptions used in the preparation of such information may 

prove to be incorrect.  

  

Antrim's actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements and 

information as a result of assumptions proving inaccurate and of both known and unknown risks, including risks 

associated with the exploration for and development of oil and natural gas reserves, operational risks and 

liabilities that are not covered by insurance, volatility in market prices for oil, NGLs and natural gas, changes or 

fluctuations in oil, NGLs and natural gas production levels, changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 

interest rates, the ability of Antrim to fund its substantial capital requirements and operations,  the impact of 

adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards as opposed to Canadian GAAP from January 1, 2011, 

Antrim’s ability to finalize the sale of a portion of the Causeway Field to Valiant, Premier exercising its option to 

acquire a portion of the Fyne Licence, Antrim’s ability to obtain access to sub-sea or floating facility including 

transportation and production storage offshore providers, and Antrim’s reliance or industry partners for the 

development of some of its properties, risks associated with ensuring title to the Company’s properties, 

liabilities and unexpected events inherent in oil and gas operations, including geological, technical, drilling and 

processing problems, the accuracy of oil and gas reserve estimates and estimated production levels as they are 

affected by the Antrim’s exploration and development drilling and estimated decline rates, in particular the 



 

   

future production rates at the Causeway and Fyne Fields in the UK North Sea and at the Tierra del Fuego 

concession in Argentina.  Additional risks include the ability to effectively compete for, among other things, 

capital, acquisitions of reserves, undeveloped lands and skilled personnel, incorrect assessments of the value of 

acquisitions, Antrim's success at acquisition, exploitation and development of reserves, changes in general 

economic, market and business conditions in Canada, North America, Argentina, South America, the United 

Kingdom, Europe and worldwide, actions by governmental or regulatory authorities including changes in 

income tax laws or changes in tax laws, royalty rates and incentive programs relating to the oil and gas industry 

and more specifically, changes to the capped market price in Argentina, changes in environmental or other 

legislation applicable to Antrim's operations, and Antrim's ability to comply with current and future 

environmental and other laws, adverse regulatory rulings, order and decisions and risks associated with the 

nature of the Common Shares. 

 

Statements relating to “resources” are deemed to be forward-looking statements.   The estimates of remaining 

recoverable prospective resources have been risked for chance of discovery, but have not been risked for 

chance of development.  If a discovery is made, there is no certainty that it will be developed or, if it is 

developed, there is no certainty as to the timing of such development.  

 

Many of these risk factors, other specific risks, uncertainties and material assumptions are discussed in further 

detail throughout the MD&A and in Antrim's management discussion and analysis for the year ended 

December 31, 2010.  Readers are specifically referred to the risk factors described in this MD&A under “Risk 

Factors” and in other documents Antrim files from time to time with securities regulatory authorities.  Copies 

of these documents are available without charge from Antrim or electronically on the internet on Antrim's 

SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.  Readers are cautioned that this list of risk factors should not be construed as 

exhaustive. 

 

The calculation of barrels of oil equivalent (“boe”) is based on a conversion rate of six thousand cubic feet of 

natural gas (“mcf”) to one barrel of crude oil (“bbl”).  Boe’s may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.  

A boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf: 1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily 

applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.  

 

In accordance with AIM guidelines, Mr. Kerry Fulton, P. Eng and Vice President, Operations for Antrim, is the 

qualified person that has reviewed the technical information contained in this MD&A.  Mr. Fulton has over 30 

years operating experience in the upstream oil and gas industry.  

 

  

http://www.sedar.com/


 

   

 MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management. The 

consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles outlined in the notes to the financial statements. The 

consolidated financial statements include certain estimates that reflect the management’s best 

judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that 

the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. In the opinion of 

management, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared within acceptable limits of 

materiality and are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The 

financial information contained in the annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate systems of internal 

control over the company’s financial reporting. The internal control system was designed to provide 

reasonable assurance to management regarding the preparation and presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.  Based on our evaluation, management has concluded that the 

Company’s internal controls over financial reporting were effectively designed and operating 

effectively. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has been engaged, as 

approved by a vote of the shareholders at the Company’s most recent annual general meeting, to 

examine the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

auditing standards and provide an independent professional opinion. 

 

The audit committee of the Board of Directors with all of its members being independent directors, 

have reviewed the consolidated financial statements including notes thereto, with management and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the 

Board of Directors on the recommendation of the audit committee. 

 

 

 

 

STEPHEN GREER              DOUGLAS OLSON  

President and Chief Executive Officer        Chief Financial Officer 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

   

March 28, 2011 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Shareholders of Antrim Energy Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Antrim Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated 
statements of loss and deficit, comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statement that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Antrim Energy Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its 

cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

(signed) "PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP"  

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Calgary, Alberta



Antrim Energy Inc.  
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

As at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009  

(U.S. Dollars)  
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Approved by the Board of Directors  

   

(signed)   ñGerry Orbellò  (signed)   ñJames Smithò  

Director   Director  

 

 

  

 

2010 

                    $ 

 

 

        2009 

         $ 

Assets   

   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  25,650,379 31,168,669 

Accounts receivable  3,529,553 3,278,166 

Inventory and prepaid expenses (note 5) 759,316 937,513 

 29,939,248 35,384,348 

   

Petroleum and natural gas properties (note 6) 258,834,012 248,012,987 

Office equipment  (note 7) 394,516 447,160 

Investments and other non-current assets (note 8) 2,025,772 1,274,384 

 291,193,548 285,118,879 

   

Liabilities    

   

Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,412,987 3,424,596 

Loan from Valiant (note 9) 835,922 - 

 3,248,909 3,424,596 

   

Asset retirement obligations (note 10)  6,246,447 5,696,945 

 9,495,356 9,121,541 

   

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)    

   

Shareholders' Equity    

Share capital (note 11) 312,062,456 311,946,244 

Contributed surplus (note 12)  17,821,118 15,605,999 

Deficit  (57,549,106) (49,586,859) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  9,363,724 (1,968,046) 

 281,698,192 275,997,338 

 291,193,548 285,118,879 



Antrim Energy Inc.  
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Deficit 

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(U.S. Dollars)  

_________________________________________________________________________________  

 

  

 

 

 

2010 

                        $ 

 

 

 

 

2009 

                       $ 

   

Revenue    

Oil and gas  12,538,921 12,952,854 

Royalties  (1,781,837) (1,776,730) 

Export tax  (146,033)  (108,325) 

 10,611,051 11,067,799 

Interest and other income  2,523,315 1,941,719 

 13,134,366 13,009,518 

   

Expenses    

Operating  4,720,573 7,068,407 

General and administrative  6,608,274 7,058,801 

Stock-based compensation (note 11) 1,706,922 2,866,818 

Depletion and depreciation 7,394,668 5,659,500 

Accretion of asset retirement obligations  313,663 581,638 

Foreign exchange loss  221,359 189,460 

Write-off of investment and other non-current assets (note 8)  - 1,739,278 

 20,965,459 25,163,902 

Loss for the year before income taxes  (7,831,093) (12,154,384) 

   

Income tax expense (note 13)    

Current  131,154 84,189 

Future  - 321,018 

 131,154 405,207 

   

Net loss for the year  (7,962,247) (12,559,591) 

Deficit – beginning of year  (49,586,859) (37,027,268) 

Deficit – end of year  (57,549,106) (49,586,859) 

   

Net loss per common share   

     Basic  (0.06) (0.09) 

     Diluted  (0.06) (0.09) 

  

 

 



Antrim Energy Inc.  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Other Comprehensive 

Income (Loss) 

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(U.S. Dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

 

 

2010 

$ 

 

 

  

2009 

$ 

   

Net loss for the year  (7,962,247) (12,559,591) 

Comprehensive income   

Unrealized gain on translation of consolidated financial statements 11,331,770 32,289,370 

Comprehensive income 3,369,523 19,729,779 

   

Accumulated other comprehensive loss – beginning of year  (1,968,046) (31,318,787) 

Change in accounting policy (note 3) - (2,938,629) 

Other comprehensive income  11,331,770 32,289,370 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) – end of year  9,363,724 (1,968,046) 

 

 

 



Antrim Energy Inc.  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(U.S. Dollars)  

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

2010 
          $ 

 
 

2009 
                      $ 

Cash provided by (used in)    

   

Operating Activities    

Net loss for the year (7,962,247) (12,559,591) 

Items not involving cash:   

Depletion and depreciation 7,394,668 5,659,500 

Stock-based compensation  1,706,922 2,866,818 

Accretion of asset retirement obligations  313,663 581,638 

Accretion of financial asset (note 8) (121,041) - 

Foreign exchange loss 178,841 324,166 

Future income taxes  - 321,018 

Write-off of long term investments and other non-current assets (note 

8) 

- 1,739,278 

 1,510,806 (1,067,173) 

Change in non-cash working capital items (note 14) (732,000) (15,088) 

 778,806 (1,082,261) 

Financing Activities    

Issue of common shares  68,993 4,368 

 68,993 4,368 

Investing Activities    

Office equipment  (187,515) (111,462) 

Petroleum and natural gas properties (note 6) (6,694,866) (4,782,392) 

Other non-current assets  (698,990) (1,084,622) 

Change in non-cash working capital items (note 14)  382,753 (1,362,918) 

 (7,198,618) (7,341,394) 

Effects of foreign exchange translations on cash flow  832,529 4,250,949 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (5,518,290) (4,168,338) 

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year  31,168,669 35,337,007 

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year  25,650,379 31,168,669 



 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Antrim Energy Inc. (Antrim or the Company) is a Calgary-based oil and natural gas company.  

Through subsidiaries, the Company conducts exploration, development and production activities 

in Argentina and exploration activities in the United Kingdom. 

 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Basis of presentation  
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared by management in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). 

 

All amounts in these statements are expressed in US dollars, as this is the presentational currency 

of the consolidated entity, unless otherwise noted.  

 
Management estimates and measurement uncertainty  

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions regarding certain assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  Such 

estimates must often be made based on unsettled transactions and other events and a precise 

determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events.   Actual results may 

differ from estimated amounts. 

 

  The amounts recorded for depletion, depreciation of property and equipment, the provision for 

asset retirement obligations, stock-based compensation, non-interest bearing promissory note, 

and future income taxes are based on estimates.  The ceiling test and depletion charges are based 

on estimates of proved reserves, production rates, prices, future costs and other relevant 

assumptions.  By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the 

effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates in future periods could be 

significant. 

 
Consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

Joint ventures 
 

Certain of the Company's petroleum and natural gas activities are conducted jointly with others 

and accordingly the accounts reflect only the Company's proportionate interest in such activities. 

 



 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and short-term investments, maturing within 

90 days at the time of acquisition. 

 

Inventory 
 

Inventories of crude oil, refined products and supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and 

net realizable value. 

 

Petroleum and natural gas properties 
 

The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas operations whereby all 

costs of exploration for and development of oil and gas reserves are capitalized into a cost centre 

for each country in which the Company’s subsidiaries have operations.  Such costs include land 

acquisition costs, geological and geophysical expenses, carrying charges on non-producing 

properties, lease rentals on undeveloped properties, costs of drilling both productive and non-

productive wells and general and administration costs directly related to exploration and 

development activities. 

 

The ultimate recovery of the costs capitalized to date by cost centre is dependent upon the 

existence of economically recoverable reserves in each country, the maintenance of the necessary 

agreements with the applicable regulatory authorities and the ability to obtain the necessary 

financing to complete the development of the Company’s holdings.  Costs of acquiring and 

evaluating unproved properties and major development projects are initially excluded from the 

depletion and depreciation calculation.  These costs are assessed periodically to ascertain whether 

impairment has occurred.  When proven reserves are assigned or the property is considered to be 

impaired, the cost of the property or the amount of the impairment is added to costs subject to 

depletion and depreciation. 

 

Costs subject to depletion, including tangible production equipment, are depleted using the unit-

of-production method based on estimated proven reserves of petroleum and natural gas before 

royalties as determined by an independent reserve engineer. Reserves are converted to 

equivalent units on the basis of approximate relative energy content.  Gains or losses on the sale 

or disposition of petroleum and natural gas properties are not ordinarily recognized except under 

circumstances which result in a change of 20% or more in the depletion rate. 
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 The Company applies a ceiling test to capitalized costs to ensure that such costs are recoverable, 

based upon a comparison with estimated undiscounted cash flows from estimated production of 

proven reserves, using estimates of future prices and costs, plus the cost (net of impairment) of 

unproved properties.  An impairment loss is recognized if capitalized costs are greater than their 

recoverable amount.  The impairment loss is measured as the amount by which capitalized costs 

exceed the present value of estimated future cash flows from proved and probable reserves 

discounted using a risk-free interest rate.  Any impairment loss is charged to income. 

 

Office equipment 
 

 Office and computer equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated over its estimated useful life 

on a straight-line basis over five and three years respectively.   

 

Investments 
 

Investments in which the Company is not able to exercise significant influence are carried at cost. 

Earnings from such investments are recognized only to the extent received or receivable. When 

there has been a loss in value of an investment that is other than a temporary decline, the 

investment is written down to recognize the loss. 

 
 Asset retirement obligations 

 

The fair value of estimated asset retirement obligations is recognized in the consolidated balance 

sheet when incurred and a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made.  Asset retirement 

obligations include those legal obligations where the Company will be required to retire tangible 

long-lived assets such as producing well sites and processing facilities.    The asset retirement cost, 

equal to the initially estimated fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part of 

the cost of the related long lived asset.  Changes in the estimated obligation resulting from 

revisions to estimated timing or amount of undiscounted cash flows are recognized as a change in 

the asset retirement obligation and the related asset retirement cost.   

 

Asset retirement costs for crude oil and natural gas assets are amortized using the unit-of-

production method.  Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depletion and 

depreciation in the consolidated statement of income (loss).  Increases in the asset retirement 

obligation resulting from the passage of time are recorded as accretion of asset retirement 

obligations in the consolidated statement of income (loss). 

 

Foreign currency translation 
 

Effective January 1, 2009, operations of the Company's subsidiary in Argentina changed from 

integrated with a functional currency of Canadian dollars (Cdn $) to self-sustaining with a 

functional currency of Argentine pesos (“ARS”) (see note 3).  The Company now translates the 

financial statements of its Argentine subsidiary to Cdn $ using the current rate method of foreign 
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currency translation.  Under the current rate method, all balance sheet items are translated at the 

exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date and all revenue and expense items are 

translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction.  The resulting foreign 

exchange gain or loss is reported as an unrealized gain (loss) in other comprehensive income 

(loss).  The remaining operations of Antrim are considered to be integrated with a functional 

currency of Cdn $.   The financial statements of the integrated subsidiaries are translated using the 

temporal method, whereby monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in 

effect on the balance sheet date, non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical 

rates and revenues and expenses are translated at the monthly average exchange rate.  The 

resulting foreign exchange gain or loss is included in income (loss) for the period.   

 

Revenue recognition 
 

Revenues are recognized when goods have been delivered, when services have been performed, 

or when hydrocarbons have been produced and delivered and payment is reasonably assured. 

 

Stock-based compensation  
 

The Company uses the fair value method for valuing stock option grants.  Stock-based 

compensation costs are recognized over the vesting period of the stock options granted with a 

corresponding amount being shown as contributed surplus.  Consideration paid upon the exercise 

of the stock options is recorded as an increase to share capital together with amounts previously 

recognized in contributed surplus.  

 

Income taxes 
 

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under this method, 

income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to 

differences between the amounts reported in the financial statements and their respective tax 

bases, using enacted or substantially enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is 

realized or the liability settled.  Future income tax assets are only recognized to the extent it is 

more likely than not that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow the future 

income tax asset to be realized. 

 

Financial instruments 
 

The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability when it becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of a financial instrument.  Financial assets and financial liabilities are 

initially measured at fair value.  After initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities held for 

trading are measured at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses recorded in income, loans 

and receivables are carried at amortized cost, while all other financial liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  For financial assets and financial 

liabilities that are not classified as held for trading, the transaction costs that are directly 
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attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability are added to the fair 

value initially recognized for that financial instrument.  These costs are expensed to earnings using 

the effective interest rate method.  

 

Per share amounts 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share are calculated by dividing earnings (loss) by the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share reflect 

the potential dilution that could occur if stock options and warrants were exercised.  The treasury 

stock method is used to determine the dilutive effect of stock options and warrants.  Under the 

treasury stock method, only proceeds received from the exercise of “in the money” stock options 

and warrants are used to determine the impact on the diluted calculations. 

 

3.  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company changed its functional currency from Cdn $ to ARS for its 

Argentina subsidiary, as the Company considers the subsidiary self sustaining and anticipates that 

the majority of its future income stream and expenditures will be denominated in ARS.  The 

change was made on a prospective basis and as a result of the change, the Company recorded an 

adjustment to opening accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) of ($2,938,629) as at 

January 1, 2009.   The functional currency of the parent company and all of its other subsidiaries 

continues to be Cdn $.  

 

 

4.   NEW ACCOUNTING  PRONOUNCEMENTS 
  

In December 2008, the CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combinations” which replaced CICA 

Section 1581 of the same name.  Section 1582 establishes principles and requirements of the 

acquisition method for business combinations and related disclosures.  This statement applies 

prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning 

of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 2011.  Adoption of this account 

standard is not expected to have a material effect on Antrim’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

Antrim will be required to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for interim 

and annual reporting purposes for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.   
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5. INVENTORY AND PREPAID EXPENSES 
  

 Inventory and prepaid expenses at December 31, 2010 include $310,742 (2009 – $351,791) of 

crude oil that has been produced but not yet sold.  Inventories of crude oil are valued at the lower 

of average cost and net realizable value. 

 

 

6. PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES 
   

   2010 

  

 

Cost 

$ 

Accumulated    depletion 

and depreciation  

$ 

 

 

Net book value 

$  

    

     Argentina  42,066,749 18,979,515 23,087,234 

     United Kingdom 239,186,475 3,439,697 235,746,778 

 281,253,224 22,419,212 258,834,012 

 

   2009 

  

 

Cost 

$ 

Accumulated   

depletion and 

depreciation  

$ 

 

 

Net book value  

$  

    

     Argentina  50,936,845 26,408,646 24,528,199 

     United Kingdom 226,763,179 3,278,391 223,484,788 

 277,700,024 29,687,037 248,012,987 

 

During the year, the Company capitalized $911,986 (2009 - $1,797,323) of general and 

administrative and $555,416 (2009 - $1,088,595) of stock-based compensation costs related to 

exploration and development activity.  At December 31, 2010, petroleum and natural gas 

properties include $235,746,778 (2009 - $223,484,788) relating to unproven properties that have 

been excluded from the depletion calculation.   

 

At December 31, 2010, petroleum and natural gas properties include $927,807 (2009 - $973,291) 

related to critical spares for the Argentina operations which have been excluded from the 

depletion calculation.   

 

During the first quarter of 2010, the Company disposed of its Puesto Guardian, Medianera and 

Tres Nidos Sur properties in Argentina resulting in a reduction of $0.7 million in net book value of 

petroleum and natural gas properties and a reduction of $0.9 million in asset retirement 

obligations. 
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During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company received $2.0 million in initial consideration for 

an option to acquire a 39.9% interest in the Fyne licence (Note 16).  The proceeds received on the 

initial consideration have been netted against the carrying amount of the UK petroleum and 

natural gas properties.   

 

The benchmark prices used in the ceiling test evaluation of the Company’s crude oil and natural 

gas reserves at December 31, 2010 were:  

 

 

 

Year 

  

WTI Crude Oil 

(US$/Barrel) 

Argentina  

Corporate Crude 

Oil (US$/Barrel) 

Argentina 

 

Natural Gas 

(US$/Mcf) 

 Argentina 

     

2011  85.00 62.92 2.32 

2012  87.70 64.18 2.66 

2013  90.50 65.46 2.70 

2014  93.40 66.77 2.79 

2015  96.30 68.11 2.70 

2016  99.40 69.47 3.05 

     

The corporate crude oil and natural gas prices include the 21% VAT retention for Tierra del Fuego 

sales on the Argentina mainland.  The natural gas price is a weighted average of gas contracts.   

 

 

7. OFFICE EQUIPMENT 
 

Office equipment of $394,516 (2009 – $447,160) is net of accumulated depreciation of $1,225,001 

(2009 – $1,372,334). 

 

 

8. INVESTMENTS AND OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS 
  

2010 

$ 

 

2009 

$ 

Non-interest bearing promissory note 770,755 - 

Interest bearing bonds 793,693 796,536 

VAT receivable 461,323 409,506 

Long-term receivable - 68,341 

Investment in NOR 1 1 

 2,025,772 1,274,384 
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On February 16, 2010, the Company sold its 40% working interest in Puesto Guardian Argentina, 

with an effective date of January 1, 2010 for consideration of a $1,360,203 non-interest bearing 

promissory note.  The note has a maturity date of February 16, 2014 and is convertible into 

common shares of Tripetrol Holdings Inc., a private Cayman Island incorporated company, at the 

option of Antrim.  The Company estimated the fair value of the note receivable to be $0.6 million 

and no value was given to the option to convert the note receivable to common shares of 

Tripetrol Holdings Inc., with this amount reducing the book value of the Company’s petroleum and 

natural gas properties.  During the year, the Company recognized accretion of $0.1 million on the 

note receivable which is recorded in interest and other income.     

 

In 2009 the Argentina state owned natural gas transportation company commenced a project to 

increase capacity on the pipeline connecting Tierra del Fuego with the mainland.  The Company 

was obligated to invest in the project through the purchase of interest bearing bonds issued by a 

national trust created by the Argentine government.  The bonds bear interest at 8% plus the 

published inflation rate adjusted quarterly.  As at December 31, 2010, the interest rate for the 

period was 17.3%.  Repayment of the bonds is in thirty quarterly instalments commencing in 2011. 

 

VAT receivable is net of $832,878 determined to be uncollectible and written off in 2009 due to 

the sale of Puesto Guardian.  The long-term receivable is net of $695,655 which was forgiven and 

written off in 2009 as part of the relinquishment of the Company’s interest in the Medianera joint 

venture.   

 

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company held 1,175,000 common shares of NOR Energy AS 

(“NOR”), a private Norwegian company, representing less than 10% of the common shares of 

NOR.    In 2008 the Company reduced its carrying value of the NOR shares to the estimated net 

realizable value of $1 as NOR sold its major asset.   

  

 

9. LOAN FROM VALIANT  
 

As part of the Conditional Letter Agreement to sell a 30% interest in the UK North Sea Causeway 

property (see note 16), Valiant Petroleum plc (“Valiant”) agreed to loan the Company up to 

$2,200,000 on a non-interest bearing basis, to satisfy cash calls and invoices for joint operations 

due and payable under the joint operating agreement prior to completion of the sale.  The loan 

relates to both the 30% interest conditionally sold to Valiant and the Company’s remaining 35.5% 

share.  The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2010 was $835,922.  Upon successful 

completion of the sale, the outstanding loan balance payable to Valiant for the Company’s 

remaining 35.5% interest will be applied to the balance of the $21,750,000 carried contribution.  

If the sale is not completed, any outstanding balance for the entire 65.5% interest will be due and 

payable to Valiant immediately.  
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10.  ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

At December 31, 2010, the estimated undiscounted asset retirement obligations are $2,121,347 

(2009 - $2,604,345) and $9,713,702 (2009 - $10,000,685) for Argentina and United Kingdom, 

respectively.   The Company expects the undiscounted obligations to be payable after 2015 for 

Argentina and after 2023 for the United Kingdom.  The present value of the asset retirement 

obligations has been calculated using credit adjusted risk free rates of between 7.9% and 11% 

(2009 – 7.9% and 11.0%) and an inflation rate of 2.0% (2009 – 2.0%). 

 

Changes to asset retirement obligations were as follows: 

 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

   

Asset retirement obligations - beginning of year  5,696,945 9,913,898 

Accretion expense  313,663 581,638 

Dispositions (916,554) - 

Additions  35,231 - 

Change in estimated future cash flows 835,656 (6,077,164) 

Foreign currency translation 281,506 1,278,573 

Asset retirement obligations - end of year  6,246,447 5,696,945 

 

 

11.  SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Authorized 

Unlimited number of common voting shares 

Unlimited number of preferred shares 

 

 

Common shares issued  Number of 

Shares  

Amount 

$  

   

Balance – December 31, 2008 135,322,116 311,927,578 

Employee share ownership plan  (41,011) (14,915) 

Exercise of stock options  68,167 33,581 

Balance – December 31, 2009  135,349,272 311,946,244 

Exercise of stock options  222,270 68,993 

Contributed surplus on exercise of stock options - 47,219 

Balance – December 31, 2010  135,571,542 312,062,456 
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 Stock options 
 

The Company has established a stock option plan whereby the Company may grant options to its 

directors, officers, employees and consultants for up to 10% of the issued and outstanding 

number of common shares.  The exercise price of each option is no less than the market price of 

the Company’s stock on the date of grant.  Stock option terms are determined by the Company’s 

Board of Directors but typically vest evenly over a period of three years from the date of grant 

and expire five years after the date of grant.  

 

Pursuant to the Company’s stock option plan, as at December 31, 2010 there were 13,247,898 

(2009 – 11,015,231) options outstanding to purchase common share at prices ranging from $0.31 

Cdn to $6.95 Cdn.  

 

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan is presented below: 

 

 2010 2009 

  

 

 

Number of 

Options  

Weighted-

average 

exercise 

price       

Cdn $ 

 

 

 

Number of 

Options  

Weighted-

average 

exercise 

price      

Cdn $ 

     

Outstanding – beginning of year  11,015,231 2.50 13,015,731 2.63 

Granted 3,755,000 1.05 630,000 0.49 

Expired/cancelled (1,300,063) 1.68 (2,562,333) 2.71 

Exercised  (222,270) 0.32 (68,167) 0.31 

Outstanding – end of year  13,247,898 2.20 11,015,231 2.50 

Options exercisable – end of year  7,947,924 2.84 6,430,919 2.75 
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The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at December 31, 

2010:  

Options outstanding  Options exercisable 

 

Range 

of exercise 

prices 

Cdn $ 

 

Weighted- 

average 

exercise 

price 

Cdn $ 

 

Number 

Outstanding 

at 

December 

31, 2010 

Weighted- 

average 

years 

remaining 

contractual 

life  

 

Weighted- 

average 

exercise 

price 

Cdn $ 

 

Number 

Outstanding 

at 

December 

31, 2010 

Weighted-

average 

years 

remaining 

contractual 

life 

       

0.31 - 1.00 0.35 2,501,231 3.07 0.32 1,421,241 2.98 

1.01 - 2.00 1.15 4,180,333 3.94 1.61 697,000 0.24 

2.01 - 3.00 2.23 1,999,999 1.26 2.20 1,733,334 1.06 

3.01 - 4.00 3.79 2,410,001 1.69 3.76 1,973,348 1.55 

4.01 - 5.00 4.10 1,566,334 1.24 4.10 1,533,001 1.22 

5.01 - 6.00 5.70 475,000 1.86 5.70 475,000 1.86 

6.01 - 6.95 6.95 115,000 1.69 6.95 115,000 1.69 

  13,247,898   7,947,924  

 

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at December 31, 

2009:  

Options outstanding  Options exercisable 

 

Range 

of exercise 

prices 

Cdn $ 

 

Weighted- 

average 

exercise 

price 

Cdn $ 

 

Number 

Outstanding 

at 

December 

31, 2010 

Weighted- 

average 

years 

remaining 

contractual 

life  

 

Weighted- 

average 

exercise 

price 

Cdn $ 

 

Number 

Outstanding 

at 

December 

31, 2010 

Weighted-

average 

years 

remaining 

contractual 

life 

       

0.31 - 1.00 0.32 2,886,833 4.00 0.31 750,167 3.90 

1.01 - 2.00 1.48 1,283,666 0.97 1.50 1,203,667 0.76 

2.01 - 3.00 2.23 2,016,732 2.26 2.14 1,483,401 1.77 

3.01 - 4.00 3.79 2,525,000 2.71 3.74 1,558,347 2.27 

4.01 - 5.00 4.10 1,673,000 2.26 4.10 1,015,337 2.15 

5.01 - 6.00 5.70 500,000 2.84 5.70 333,334 2.74 

6.01 - 7.00 6.95 130,000 2.70 6.95 86,666 2.69 

  11,015,231   6,430,919  

 

Stock-based compensation costs are recognized over the vesting period of the stock options 

granted. 
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Stock-based compensation  
 

The Company measures all stock-based compensation using the fair value method of accounting 

and recognizes the result as compensation expense in the financial statements.  Stock-based 

compensation costs are recognized over the vesting period of the stock options granted.  Stock-

based compensation costs for the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 were $2,262,338 and 

$3,955,413 respectively. 

 

Options totaling 3,755,000 (2009 – 630,000) were granted during the year ended December 31, 

2009.  The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the 

Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:  Risk free interest rate – 2.28% 

(2009 – 1.74%); expected life – 4.5 years (2009 – 4.5 years); expected volatility – 81.75% (2008 – 

74.8%); expected dividend yield – nil (2009 – nil); estimated forfeitures – nil (2009 – nil). 

 

Per share information 

In calculating basic and diluted net loss per common share amounts, the following weighted 

average shares were used: 

 2010 

Number of shares 

2009 

Number of shares 

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 135,386,708 135,283,611 

Exercisable stock options 1,584,192 750,167 

Diluted average number of shares outstanding 136,970,900 136,033,778 

 

In calculating diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the 

Company excluded weighted average exercisable stock options of 8,851,679 (2009 – 5,680,752) as 

they were anti-dilutive. 

 

 

12. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 
 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

   

Balance - beginning of year 15,605,999 11,664,179 

Stock-based compensation    2,262,338 3,955,413 

Transfer to share capital on exercise of stock options  (47,219) (13,593) 

Balance - end of year  17,821,118 15,605,999 
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13.    INCOME TAXES 

The differences between the expected income tax provision and the reported income tax provision 

are summarized as follows: 

 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

   

(Loss) before income taxes (7,831,093) (12,154,384) 

Statutory income tax rate 28.00% 29.50% 

Expected tax (recovery) (2,192,706) (3,585,543) 

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:   

Non-deductible expenses (4,005,802) (4,194,968) 

Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 2,619,954 2,738,947 

Benefit of tax losses not recognized 3,709,708 5,446,771 

 131,154 405,207 

 

The components of Antrim's future income tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary 

differences and loss carry-forwards are as follows: 

 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

   

Petroleum and natural gas properties (79,854,687) (81,363,319) 

Asset retirement obligations 1,430,832 1,432,789 

Non-capital losses 108,007,635 102,503,924 

Share issuance costs 594,526 1,320,563 

Other 583,371 562,510 

Valuation allowance (30,761,677) (24,456,467) 

 - - 

 

 

The Company incurred losses in several of the countries that it operates in.  Although the majority 

of the Company’s operations are in the UK and Argentina, it maintains its head office in Canada.  

Certain costs incurred in Canada related to executive management, administrative and public 

company costs cannot be allocated to foreign operations resulting in non-capital loss carryforwards 

in Canada.  No accounting recognition has been given to the losses in Canada, Argentina or the UK 

as there is uncertainty with respect to the ability to generate sufficient taxable income to utilize the 

losses.  The majority of operations in Argentina are located in Tierra del Fuego which is a tax-

exempt province. 
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At December 31, 2010 the Company had the following non-capital loss carryforwards: 

 

 Expiry 2010  

 Dates                 $ 

   

Canada  2011-2030 23,135,000 

Argentina  2012-2014 5,675,000 

United Kingdom No Expiry 217,153,000 

Total   245,963,000 

   

 

14.    SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

    

2010 

                 $ 

 2009 

                $ 

Operating activities:       

Decrease (increase) in current assets:       

            Accounts receivable    (122,255)  1,342,381 

     Inventory and prepaid expenses    119,896 - 10,683 

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:       

     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   - (729,641)  (1,368,152) 

    (732,000)  (15,088) 

       

Investing activities:       

Decrease (increase) in current assets:       

      Accounts receivable    (150,243)  255,742 

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:       

              Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    532,996  (1,618,660) 

    382,753 ( (1,362,918) 

       

Interest received    139,386  208,639 

Income taxes paid    131,154  84,189 

       

 

15.    SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The Company operates predominately in one business, namely the exploration, development and 

production of hydrocarbons and the sale of hydrocarbons and related activities.  The Company also 

operates within two geographical markets, United Kingdom and Argentina.  The Company’s head 

office resides in Canada.  
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   2010 

 Revenue  (Loss) Identifiable assets 

 $ $ $ 

    

Canada  - (5,915,970) 22,713,500 

Argentina  12,538,921 (395,542) 31,665,955 

United Kingdom - (1,650,735) 236,814,093 

Total  12,538,921 (7,962,247) 291,193,548 

 

   2009 

 Revenue  (Loss) Identifiable assets 

 $ $ $ 

    

Canada  - (6,258,986) 25,538,751 

Argentina  12,952,854 (3,227,085) 32,903,352 

United Kingdom - (3,073,520) 226,676,776 

Total  12,952,854 (12,559,591) 285,118,879 

 
 

16.    COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
   

The Company has several commitments in respect of its petroleum and natural gas 
properties and operating leases as follows:  

  
 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter 

($000’s)       

United Kingdom       

 Fyne and Dandy 
(1)

  70 10,024 24 24 24 24 

 Causeway 
(2)

 138 184 32 32 32 32 

 25
th

 Bid Round 
(3)

 157 12,580 19,000 - - - 

Argentina        

 Tierra del Fuego 650 650 650 650 650 650 

 Cerro de Los Leones 
(4)

  4,433 1,246 1,246 - - - 

Office Leases  300 262 111 111 111 249 

Total  5,748 24,946 21,063 817 817 955 

 
(1) The Company acquired a 75% working interest in Fyne and Dandy and upon approval of a Field Development Plan by DECC, has 

agreed to pay an additional $10 million as part of the acquisition cost of the block.   

(2) Relates to Antrim’s 65.5% interest in Causeway prior to the conditional sale of 30% interest to Valiant. 

(3) The Company acquired two licences in the 25th bid round which include contingent drilling commitments estimated at $27 million 

in 2012 and 2013.  These commitments will be waived by DECC if they agree that drilling the wells would not be an appropriate 

use of resources.  The remaining licences include committed licence fees and seismic costs to drill or drop decision. 

(4) Relates to Antrim’s 50.1% interest in the exploration concession and includes seismic and firm well cost commitments.  



 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

 

On March 4, 2010, the Company announced that it had signed a Conditional Letter Agreement to 

sell a 30% interest in the UK North Sea Causeway property.  The Company will receive up to 

$21.75 million contributed to the Company’s remaining share of development costs of bringing 

the field to production start-up.  Completion of the transaction is subject to several conditions 

including the sanction of a Field Development Plan by the UK Department of Energy and Climate 

Change (“DECC”) which is anticipated in 2011.    

 

On October 6, 2010, Antrim announced the signing of an Earn-In Agreement (“EIA”) with Premier 

Oil UK Limited (“Premier”) to jointly explore development options for the Fyne Area.  Premier paid 

Antrim $2 million in initial consideration for an option to acquire a 39.9% interest in the Fyne 

licence (Block 21/28a) in return for a up to a $50 million carried contribution, less the initial 

consideration, towards the pre-development and development costs of the Fyne Field.  The EIA 

also provides Premier the option to participate up to 50% alongside Antrim in a planned drilling 

program in the Greater Fyne Area.   
 
 

17.    FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company’s objective when managing its capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to 

support its exploration and development program and provide flexibility in the future 

development of its business. Historically the Company has raised all of its capital requirements 

from internally generated cash flow and by the issuance of common shares and securities 

exchangeable for common shares.  The Company’s capital structure at December 31, 2010 

consists of common share capital of $312,062,456 and a loan from Valiant of $835,922.  The 

Company had no bank debt at December 31, 2010.  

 

Current restrictions on availability of credit may limit the Company’s ability to access debt or 

equity financing for its development projects.  The Company forecasts cash flows against a range 

of macroeconomic and financing market scenarios in an effort to identify future liabilities and 

arrange financing, if necessary. The Company has reduced the time frame in projecting its future 

expenditures from an annual budget to a quarterly and, where applicable, monthly forecast 

process.  This reduction in the time horizon will allow the Company to better adapt to changing 

market conditions.  Although the Company may need to raise additional funds from outside 

sources, if available, in order to develop its UK properties, the Company maintains flexibility to 

manage financial commitments on these assets. 
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18.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS 
 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently 

accounted for based on their classification. The classification categories, which depend on the 

purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics, include held-

for-trading, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, investments, and other 

liabilities. Except in very limited circumstances, the classification is not changed subsequent to 

initial recognition.  

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 

investments in interest-bearing and non-interest bearing bonds and accounts payable.  Cash and 

cash equivalents are categorized as held-for-trading and are accounted for at fair value with the 

change in fair value recognized in net income during the period.  Accounts receivable and 

investments in interest-bearing and non-interest bearing bonds, as described in note 8, are 

classified as loans and receivables and are accounted for at amortized cost.  Accounts payable are 

classified as other liabilities and are accounted for at amortized cost.  Due to the short-term 

maturity of the Company’s financial instruments, fair values approximate carrying amounts.  The 

fair value of the long term bonds is not materially different than the carrying amount.    

 

Financial risks 
 

The Company is exposed to financial risks encountered during the normal course of its business.  

These financial risks are composed of credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk including 

commodity price and foreign currency exchange risks. 

 

(a) Credit risk 

 

The Company is exposed to the risk that its counterparties will fail to discharge their obligations to 

the Company on its cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable and certain non-current assets.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents are on deposit with reputable Canadian and international banks, and 

therefore the Company does not believe these financial instruments are subject to material credit 

risk. All of the Company’s oil and gas production is sold to three purchasers.  Factors included in 

the assessment of accounts receivable for impairment are the relationship between the purchaser 

and the Company and the age of the receivable.  As at December 31, 2010, the Company has 

provided for an allowance for doubtful accounts which is not material. 

 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk of $31,205,703 at December 31, 2010 is equal to 

the carrying amount of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable and certain non-current assets 

on the Company’s balance sheet on that date.  These non-current assets being primarily VAT 
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receivable and interest bearing bonds that are obligations of the Argentina government or 

government agencies and the non-interest bearing bond from Tripetrol Holdings Inc. 

 

(b) Liquidity risk 

 

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk from the possibility that it will encounter difficulty 

meeting its financial obligations.  The Company manages this risk by forecasting cash flows in an 

effort to identify future liabilities and arrange financing, if necessary. It may take many years and 

substantial cash expenditures to pursue exploration and development activities on all of the 

Company’s existing undeveloped properties.  Accordingly, the Company may need to raise 

additional funds from outside sources in order to explore and develop its properties. There is no 

assurance that adequate funds from debt and equity markets will be available to the Company in a 

timely manner. 

At December 31 2010, the Company had working capital of $26,690,339 compared to $31,959,752 

at December 31, 2009.  The contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities at 

December 31, 2010 are all less than one year.   

 

(c) Market risk 

 

Market risk consists of commodity price risk and foreign currency exchange risk. 

 

(d) Commodity price risk 

 

Currently all of the Company’s oil and gas revenue is from oil and gas properties in Argentina.  Oil 

prices in Argentina are subject to domestic market discounts, which result in prices significantly 

below benchmark prices.  Oil exports from Argentina are subject to export taxes which effectively 

limit the maximum price that producers could receive for crude oil exports to $42 per barrel, 

regardless of the price of WTI.  The discount on domestic sales results in a similar ceiling, after 

quality adjustments, within the domestic market.  Gas sales are based on fixed long term sales 

contracts of up to four years, spot sale pricing and domestic market discounted pricing.  As there 

is currently no ability to export abroad gas from Tierra del Fuego, the discount prices and lack of 

export market results in a ceiling on industrial long term and spot sales prices.   Further regulatory 

changes to the domestic market prices or export tax regime may have an adverse impact on the 

Company’s net revenues, cash flow and earnings.   

 

(e) Foreign currency exchange risk  

 

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as many of the 

Company’s financial instruments are denominated in United States dollars, British pounds sterling 

(“£”) or Argentine pesos (“ARS”).  As a result, fluctuations in the United States dollar, British 

pounds sterling, and Argentine peso against the Canadian dollar could result in unanticipated 

fluctuations in the Company’s financial results.  The Company seeks to minimize foreign exchange 
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risk by holding cash and cash equivalents in Canadian dollars when not required in support of 

current operations.   

 

The Company’s sensitivity to foreign currency exchange risk at December 31, 2010 of a possible 

10% strengthening in the Canadian dollar is as follows:  

 US $ £ 

 US$ equivalent 

Increase in loss before taxes  3,000 327,000 

 

 

19.    RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company may from time to time enter into arrangements with related parties which are 

accounted for at the exchange amount.  In 2010, the Company incurred fees of $185,934 (2009 - 

$63,178) payable to Burstall Winger LLP, a law firm in which a director of the Company is a 

partner.   

 

 

20.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

On March 17, 2011, the Company issued 48,191,700 common shares at a price of Cdn $1.07 per 

common share for gross proceeds of Cdn $51.6 million (net proceeds Cdn $48.5 million) which 

included 6,191,700 common shares issued to the underwriters pursuant to the 98.3% exercise of 

the overallotment option.   

 

On March 28, 2011, the Company announced that it had signed a Letter of Award (“LOA”) with 

AGR Peak Well Management Limited to drill commencing in the third quarter of 2011.  The LOA is 

for a minimum duration of 50 days at a contractual obligation of $245,000 per day plus services, 

for an estimated cost of $27.3 million.   
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